FILED
06-17-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2024AP581-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN JAMES PETERSEN,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Denying Mr. Petersen’s
Postconviction Motion and Judgment of Conviction,
Entered in the Kenosha County Circuit Court, the
Honorable Anthony Milisaukas, Presiding

BRIEF OF
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

OLIVIA GARMAN
Assistant State Public Defender
State Bar No. 1105954

Office of the State Public Defender
735 N. Water Street - Suite 912
Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116
(414) 227-4805
garmano@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Is the condition of extended supervision banning Mr. Petersen from using or accessing social media overbroad?

The circuit court answered: no.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Petersen does not request oral argument as he anticipates the briefs will fully address the issues presented on appeal. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.22(2)(b). Mr. Petersen does not request publication as the issue involves application of well-settled rules of law to the facts. *See* Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(b)1.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Jonathan Petersen with eighteen counts of terrorist threats while using a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 947.019(1) and 939.63(1)(c); one count of stalking – use of a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 940.32(3)(c); one count of knowingly violate a harassment restraining order while using a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. §§ 813.125(7) and 939.63(1)(a); and one count of false imprisonment while using a dangerous weapon, contrary to Wis. Stat. §§ 940.30 and 939.63(1)(b). (13:1-7). According to

the amended criminal complaint, on June 13, 2022, Mr. Petersen entered a Kwik Trip gas station in Somers, WI, armed with a nine-inch long knife and what appeared to be an AR-15 firearm, but was actually a BB gun. (9:7). Mr. Petersen was 19 years old at the time. (35:13). Mr. Petersen approached an employee of the Kwik Trip, F.E.P., with whom he had issues with in the past. (9:8).

F.E.P. told officers that once she recognized Mr. Petersen entering the Kwik Trip, she attempted to conceal herself. (9:8). F.E.P. heard Mr. Petersen call out to her and, when she turned to look at him, he was pointing a long black gun at her. (9:9). As Mr. Petersen conversed with F.E.P., other store employees and patrons called police. (9:8). Once officers arrived on scene, they removed F.E.P. and ordered Mr. Petersen to drop the gun. (9:7). Mr. Petersen placed the rifle on a counter and backed away from it, holding the knife to his throat. (9:7). Once officers were able to obtain his compliance, Mr. Petersen was arrested and taken into custody. (9:7). Officers were then able to determine that Mr. Petersen was holding a BB gun, although missing the bright colored end cap signaling that it was a facsimile gun. (9:7).

There was an active restraining order which prevented Mr. Petersen from having any contact with F.E.P. (9:9). F.E.P. told officers that she received the restraining order after meeting Mr. Petersen while the two were both employed at the same grocery store and he began exhibiting “alarming” behavior after she informed him she was not interested in a romantic

relationship. (9:10). F.E.P. described incidents when Mr. Petersen would show up at the grocery store when F.E.P. was working but he was not and another incident in which she left work to discover her vehicle had food dumped on it and F.E.P. suspected Mr. Petersen. (9:10). Additionally, after F.E.P. blocked Mr. Petersen on social media, someone with a username similar to Mr. Petersen's would make abusive comments on her posts, delete the comments, and then delete the account. (9:10). Mr. Petersen denied ever making any social media accounts to harass F.E.P. (9:10).

Mr. Petersen pled guilty to one count of stalking – use of a dangerous weapon, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.32(2); two counts of terrorist threats while using a dangerous weapon, in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 947.019(1) and 939.63(1)(c); and one count of false imprisonment while using a dangerous weapon, in violation of Wis. Stats. §§ 940.30 and 939.63(1)(b). (22:1; 45:19). On February 22, 2023, the circuit court, the Honorable Anthony Milisaukas presiding, sentenced Mr. Petersen to a total of five years six months initial confinement and six years extended supervision. (30:1). As conditions of extended supervision, the court ordered no possession or consumption of any alcohol; no possession or consumption of any controlled substances, except with valid prescription; participation in any counseling deemed appropriate by the agent; no contact with any of the listed victims; and “[n]o social media.” (30:2). The court further ordered that Mr. Petersen was not

eligible for either the Challenge Incarceration Program or the Substance Abuse Program. (30:2).

Mr. Petersen, through trial counsel, filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief. (34:1). A Rule 809.30 motion for postconviction relief was filed on November 27, 2023. (48). A hearing on the motion was held on January 22, 2024, where the court granted in part and denied in part the motion. (53; 58:1). The court granted the request to make Mr. Petersen eligible for the Challenge Incarceration Program. (53). The court denied the request to make Mr. Petersen eligible for the Substance Abuse Program. (53). The court also denied the request to amend the no social media condition of extended supervision. (53). Mr. Petersen appeals the court's denial of the request to modify the no social media condition of extended supervision.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion in setting a condition of extended supervision that is overly broad.

Circuit courts are granted broad discretion in determining the necessary conditions of extended supervision. *State v. Miller*, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 11, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47. The court's discretion in imposing conditions of extended supervision is only subject to a standard of reasonableness and appropriateness. *Id.* "Whether a condition of supervision is reasonable and appropriate is

determined by how well it serves the dual goals of supervision: rehabilitation of the defendant and the protection of a state or community interest.” *Id.*

Furthermore, conditions of extended supervision may infringe on constitutional rights so “long as they are not overly broad and are reasonably related to the defendant’s rehabilitation.” *State v. Miller*, 175 Wis. 2d 204, 208, 499 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1993). A condition of supervision is reasonably related to the defendant’s rehabilitation if the condition assists the convicted individual in conforming his conduct to the law. *State v. King*, 2020 WI App 66, ¶ 22, 394 Wis. 2d 431, 950 N.W.2d 891. Where the condition is content neutral, intermediate scrutiny applies. *Id.* at ¶ 23. Intermediate scrutiny requires that the condition be narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest. *Id.*

In *State v. Stewart*, the court of appeals addressed a condition of probation “banishing” the defendant from a specific town in Wisconsin. 2006 WI App 67, 291 Wis. 2d 480, 713 N.W.2d 165. The defendant in *Stewart* was convicted for making several telephone calls that were sexual in nature to his neighbors. *Id.* at ¶ 14. The trial court, in imposing the condition banishing the defendant from the town, noted that the defendant “has literally tormented the people in close relationship in that township and especially that house repeatedly.” *Id.* at ¶ 15. The trial court concluded that it was imposing the condition as a matter of public protection for those who had been targeted by the defendant. *Id.*

On review, however, the court of appeals found that the condition was overbroad and there existed a different, more narrowly drawn condition of supervision which already served to protect the victims and facilitate the defendant's rehabilitation. *Id.* at ¶¶ 16-17. This court noted that the trial court had imposed a "no contact" condition for all of the named victims in the case. *Id.* at ¶ 17. The court of appeals found that the "banishment" condition of probation was overbroad in that it prevented the defendant from entering an entire town, when the actions he was convicted of were directed at specific individuals rather than the town writ large. *Id.* at ¶ 16. The court of appeals held that the "banishment" condition was not narrowly tailored to address the rehabilitation of the defendant and serve a significant government interest because there was already a more narrowly drawn restriction on contact with all of the named victims. *Id.* at ¶ 17.

In the present case, the sentencing court imposed a condition of extended supervision effectively banishing Mr. Petersen from all social media. The court also imposed a "no contact" condition of extended supervision with all of the named victims in the case. Much like the defendant in *Stewart* was banished from the town to protect a handful of victims, Mr. Petersen has been effectively banished from social media to protect a handful of victims. There was no allegation that social media was used to plan or execute Mr. Petersen's criminal activity on June 13, 2022. Much like the banishment in *Stewart*, the social media ban may further Mr. Petersen's rehabilitation,

but in its current form is overbroad. The order prohibiting Mr. Petersen from having contact with F.E.P. and all of the other victims is much more narrowly tailored and addresses both Mr. Petersen's rehabilitation and the compelling state interest in protecting F.E.P. and the other victims.

While courts have previously upheld certain "banishment" conditions, *see State v. Nienhardt*, 196 Wis. 2d 161, 537 N.W.2d 123 (Ct. App. 1995); *Predick v. O'Connor*, 2003 WI App 46, 260 Wis. 2d 323, 660 N.W.2d 1, the facts and circumstances present in this case do not justify the severe restriction on Mr. Petersen's First Amendment rights to free association.

A. Mr. Petersen's conduct does not justify banishment.

While the conduct involved in this case is threatening in nature, it does not require complete banishment from an important First Amendment space in order to protect the public or the victims. Mr. Petersen entered a gas station holding a large knife and facsimile gun. While F.E.P. did report some harassment through social media, the criminal conduct that Mr. Petersen was charged with and convicted of does not include allegations that he used social media in some way to plan or perpetuate his activity.

At the time of the offense, Mr. Petersen was 19 years old. The court sentenced Mr. Petersen to a period of five years and 6 months initial confinement. This means that Mr. Petersen will be at least 24 years old

at the time he is released to extended supervision. As the circuit court seemed to recognize at the postconviction hearing, a lot can change in that amount of time. (58:11).

B. The banishment in this case impermissibly violates Mr. Petersen's constitutional rights.

While the First Amendment rights of those on supervision or in prison are subject to limitations, they do not simply disappear by virtue of the conviction or sentence. *See Yoder v. Palmeri*, 177 Wis. 2d 756, 760, 502 N.W.2d 903 (Ct. App. 1993) (noting that first amendment rights of inmates are subject to limitations). Although social media use was limited in 1997, the United States Supreme Court recognized almost 30 years ago that the internet generally, and chat rooms (the precursor to modern social media) specifically, are popular and pervasive First Amendment spaces. *Reno v. American Civil Liberties Union*, 521 U.S. 844, 870 (1997) (noting that “[t]hrough the use of chat rooms, any person with a phone line can become a town crier with a voice that resonates farther than it could from any soapbox.”). “A fundamental principle of the First Amendment is that all persons have access to places where they can speak and listen, and then, after reflection, speak and listen once more.” *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 582 U.S. 98, 104 (2017).

Social media has become ingrained in our society and is used for more than simply keeping up

with friends and acquaintances. *See id.* at 104-05 (“On Facebook, for example, users can debate religion and politics with their friends and neighbors or share vacation photos. On LinkedIn, users can look for work, advertise for employees, or review tips on entrepreneurship. And on Twitter, users can petition their elected representatives and otherwise engage with them in a direct manner. Indeed, Governors in all 50 States and almost every Member of Congress have set up accounts for this purpose.”).

While courts can and should craft conditions of extended supervision that ensure the protection of the community, the conditions must be reasonably related to the defendant’s rehabilitation. *See State v. Miller*, 175 Wis. 2d 204, 208, 499 N.W.2d 215 (Ct. App. 1993). Where a condition of supervision impinges on a defendant’s constitutional rights and is content neutral, intermediate scrutiny is applied. *State v. King*, 2020 WI App 66, ¶ 23, 394 Wis. 2d 431, 950 N.W.2d 891. In order to meet this test, the restriction must be narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest. *Id.*

The condition at issue in this case is not narrowly tailored to serve a significant governmental interest. While protection of F.E.P. or other named victims may be a significant governmental interest, the complete ban on social media is not narrowly tailored to that interest. The circuit court has, in essence, completely deprived Mr. Petersen of a ubiquitous means of communicating with others and expressing himself. If this were the only way to ensure

Mr. Petersen did not continue to harass F.E.P., the condition may have been narrowly tailored. However, the circuit court also imposed a condition that prohibits Mr. Petersen from having any contact with F.E.P. and other victims. The condition imposed on Mr. Petersen does not provide any alternative method or avenue for Mr. Petersen to be able to access or use a First Amendment-protected space. “In sum, to foreclose access to social media altogether is to prevent the user from engaging in the legitimate exercise of First Amendment rights.” *Packingham*, 582 U.S. 108.

At the hearing on the postconviction motion, the circuit court noted that it imposed the condition banishing Mr. Petersen from social media “based on the facts that the State gave [the court]. He was involved with victims in social media usage that was disturbing, creating fake accounts using comments and deleting them.” (58:12). The court did not consider that it had also imposed a condition prohibiting Mr. Petersen from any contact with F.E.P. or the other victims. That the condition of supervision completely banning Mr. Petersen from accessing or using social media in any way is necessary to aid in his rehabilitation or to protect the victims is not a conclusion that a reasonable judge would reach under the facts and circumstances here.

Under the circumstances present here, a complete ban on access or use of social media impermissible infringes on Mr. Petersen’s constitutional rights, and constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Petersen asks that this court reverse and remand with instructions that the circuit court vacate the condition of extended supervision banishing him from using social media.