FILED
08-16-2024
CLERK OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN
C O U R T O F A P P E A L S
D I S T R I C T I I

Case No. 2024AP581-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JONATHAN JAMES PETERSEN,
Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION
RELIEF, ENTERED IN KENOSHA COUNTY
CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE
ANTHONY G. MILISAUSKAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL
Attorney General of Wisconsin

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice
Post Office Box 7857
Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857
(608) 266-9620

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

ARGUMENT

I. This Court should hold that Petersen is judicially estopped from challenging, or forfeited his right to challenge, the “no social media” condition of extended supervision when he agreed to it at sentencing.

A. Petersen is judicially estopped from taking inconsistent positions in legal proceedings.

Petersen argues that imposition of the “no social media” condition to help rehabilitate him and to protect the public “is not a conclusion that a reasonable judge would reach under the facts and circumstances here.” (Petersen’s Br. 14.) That is the exact opposite of what Petersen told the court through counsel at sentencing. Petersen assured the court that the condition was “appropriate.” (R. 35:19.)

As noted above, the prosecutor asked the court at sentencing to impose a condition of extended supervision banning Petersen’s access to social media, “given the description of his usage of social media to harass [FEP] and then how he was creating fake social media to continue pursuing her against her wishes.” (R. 35:12.) Defense counsel agreed that this condition as recommended by the State was “appropriate.” (R. 35:19.) “He [Petersen] shouldn’t use social media until he can demonstrate that he can use it responsibly without harassing other people,” counsel stated. (R. 35:19.) The trial court agreed and imposed among other conditions of extended supervision, “no social media.” (R. 35:30–31.)

Postconviction, Petersen argued for the first time that the court violated his constitutional rights in not allowing him access to social media while on extended supervision, and it should now “allow social media with agent approval.” (R. 48:7.) This Court should hold that Petersen is judicially estopped from taking these diametrically opposed positions regarding the “no social media” condition.

Wisconsin's judicial estoppel rule is an equitable principle that precludes a party from adopting inconsistent positions in legal proceedings. *English-Lancaster*, 252 Wis. 2d 388, ¶ 18. "The purpose of judicial estoppel is to preserve the integrity of the judicial system and prevent litigants from playing 'fast and loose' with the courts." *Id.* (citation omitted). "Judicial estoppel is an equitable rule applied at the discretion of the court to prevent a party from adopting inconsistent positions in legal proceedings." *Id.* The rule "applies to inconsistent positions taken in judicial actions and proceedings." *In re H.N.T.*, 125 Wis. 2d 242, 253, 371 N.W.2d 395 (Ct. App. 1985).

In *State v. Michels*, 141 Wis. 2d 81, 414 N.W.2d 311 (Ct. App. 1987), the defendant was charged with and tried for second-degree murder. He requested and received a jury instruction on the lesser-included offense of manslaughter, heat of passion, based on his argument that the evidence supported it. *Michels*, 141 Wis. 2d at 97. On appeal, Michels argued that there was insufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict finding him guilty of manslaughter, heat of passion. *Id.* This Court held that he was judicially estopped from making that argument because it was directly contrary to the position he took at trial.

Michels argues that the evidence is insufficient to support his conviction for manslaughter, heat of passion. The manslaughter, heat of passion charge was, however, submitted to the jury at Michels' request as a lesser-included offense of second-degree murder. In making this request, Michels argued that there existed sufficient evidence to support his conviction on the lesser charge. Consequently, we conclude that Michels is judicially estopped from raising this issue because it is directly contrary to that argued in the trial court.

Id. at 97–98 (citation omitted).

The same reasoning applies here. This Court should apply the judicial estoppel rule to prevent Petersen from

advocating for one position at sentencing and the opposite position on postconviction review and appeal. It will preserve the integrity of the judicial system for this Court to avoid having to decide a First Amendment claim not raised at sentencing, and having to review the trial court's discretionary decision to impose a condition of extended supervision that Petersen agreed was "appropriate."

B. Petersen forfeited his right to appellate review of the order denying his motion to modify the condition.

Petersen did not object to the "no social media" condition at sentencing. He agreed with the prosecutor that this condition was "appropriate." (R. 35:19.) The court agreed and imposed it. Petersen's failure to object to the condition as unconstitutional, and his statement to the court fully embracing it at sentencing, works as a classic forfeiture of his right to appellate review of his constitutional challenge to the condition.

Failure to timely object generally forfeits appellate review of an error, even an error of constitutional dimension. *E.g.*, *State v. Huebner*, 2000 WI 59, ¶¶ 10–11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727; *see State v. Pinno*, 2014 WI 74, ¶¶ 8, 56–68, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 (the right to appellate review of even a structural constitutional violation may be forfeited by the failure to timely object). "The forfeiture rule fosters the fair, efficient, and orderly administration of justice." *Coffee*, 389 Wis. 2d 627, ¶ 19.

To properly preserve an objection for review, the litigant must "articulate the specific grounds for the objection unless its basis is obvious from its context . . . so that both parties and courts have notice of the disputed issues as well as a fair opportunity to prepare and address them in a way that most efficiently uses judicial resources." *State v. Agnello*,

226 Wis. 2d 164, 172–73, 593 N.W.2d 427 (1999) (citations omitted).

Petersen could have opposed the prosecutor's recommendation to ban social media access at sentencing. Instead, he agreed with it. Petersen could have argued that banning access to social media would violate his First Amendment rights to free speech and association. He did not make that argument. Or, Petersen could have asked the court to allow him access to social media while on extended supervision, but subject to his agent's approval. He did not request that either. Instead, Petersen inexplicably waited until after sentencing to challenge the condition.

By waiting until after sentencing to raise his constitutional challenge, Petersen deprived the trial court of the opportunity to determine before it imposed the condition whether it would be unconstitutional. The court could have better explained why access to social media with the agent's approval would not adequately aid in Petersen's rehabilitation or protect the public. Or, it may have been convinced to impose a condition that was not as broad. At the very least, the court could have clarified the boundaries of its "no social media" condition if Petersen convinced it that the condition goes too far. Instead, Petersen agreed with the prosecutor's recommendation to ban access to all social media sites until he proves that he can access them responsibly. (R. 35:19.) The court followed the parties' joint recommendation.

This Court should summarily affirm on the ground that Petersen either is judicially estopped from taking inconsistent positions, or he forfeited his right to appellate review of the trial court's order denying his postconviction motion to modify the "no social media" condition of extended supervision. This ruling will not, as discussed at "II. C." below, prevent Petersen from challenging the condition when it becomes ripe for review for reasonableness and appropriateness after he completes the initial confinement portion of his sentence.

C. The State is not estopped from arguing estoppel or forfeiture.

Petersen may argue in his reply brief that the State is itself estopped from making an estoppel or forfeiture argument because it did not argue either one postconviction. That is unavailing given that Petersen may have gotten the court to change or eliminate the condition had he simply brought his constitutional concerns to the court's attention at sentencing before it imposed the condition.

Moreover, Petersen in his motion never acknowledged the inconsistent position that his attorney took at sentencing when he agreed that the condition was appropriate. He does not acknowledge it here either. Petersen also failed to develop a First Amendment challenge in his motion. He merely argued that the condition was "overly broad" (R. 48:7), and improperly "banished" him from social media (R. 48:7–8). The only time Petersen specifically mentioned that the condition violated his "First Amendment rights to expression and association" was at the tail end of his motion. (R. 48:9.)

The trial court denied the motion without reaching the merits of his constitutional challenge. It held instead that Petersen may challenge the reasonableness and appropriateness of the condition when his term of extended supervision begins. (R. 58:12–13.) By applying judicial estoppel or forfeiture now, this Court will avoid having to decide a First Amendment challenge that should have been raised at sentencing and was not fully developed in Petersen's postconviction motion.

In any event, as discussed at "II. C." below, Petersen will still be able to challenge the condition when the issue becomes ripe after completion of the initial confinement portion of his sentence, and this Court will be in a far better position to review it for reasonableness and appropriateness. Depending on what happens before then, neither the lower

court nor this Court may ever have to decide whether the condition as originally imposed violated the First Amendment.

II. The trial court properly exercised its discretion when it imposed the reasonable and appropriate condition that Petersen is not allowed access to social media sites while on extended supervision.

Petersen argues that the “no social media” condition of extended supervision is both unreasonable and unconstitutional. (Petersen’s Br. 8–14.) He is wrong on both counts.

The condition is reasonably related to Petersen’s rehabilitation and to public protection because he used both real and fake social media accounts to harass, threaten, and stalk the victim. This obsessive behavior culminated in Petersen’s armed encounter with the victim and the acts of terrorism threatening the lives of many others at the Kwik Trip store on June 13, 2022.

The condition is constitutional. As a convicted felon serving a sentence, Petersen’s constitutional protections are greatly limited. He had no right of access to social media while serving the confinement portion of his sentence. It was reasonable for the court to keep that ban in place throughout the extended supervision portion of his sentence.

If circumstances change, Petersen or the Department of Corrections may petition the court to modify the condition when it comes time for him to begin serving the extended supervision portion of the sentence.

A. The trial court may impose reasonable and appropriate conditions of extended supervision including one that restricts access to social media sites.

The trial court has broad discretion to impose what it finds to be reasonable and appropriate conditions on the extended supervision portion of a criminal sentence. Wis. Stat. § 973.01(5); *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 20. The condition need not relate directly to the offense of conviction so long as it is reasonably related to the purposes of extended supervision: protection of the public and rehabilitation of the offender. *State v. Miller*, 2005 WI App 114, ¶ 13, 283 Wis. 2d 465, 701 N.W.2d 47. “A condition of supervision is reasonably related to a defendant’s rehabilitation if the condition ‘assists the convicted individual in conforming his or her conduct to the law.’” *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 22 (citations omitted).

“As instructed by the supreme court, our discussion must include an ‘individualized determination that the [extended supervision] condition was necessary based on the facts in this case,’ and we must determine whether the condition is overly broad in light of the history and actions of this particular” defendant. *Id.* ¶ 58 (alteration in original) (citation omitted).

A condition of extended supervision is constitutional if it is not overly broad, it serves to protect the community and the victim, and it is reasonably related to the defendant’s rehabilitation. *State v. Rowan*, 2012 WI 60, ¶¶ 4, 10, 341 Wis. 2d 281, 814 N.W.2d 854.

It is also appropriate for circuit courts to consider an end result of encouraging lawful conduct, and thus increased protection of the public, when determining what individualized probation, extended supervision, or parole conditions are appropriate for a particular person. Unsurprisingly, public safety is often mentioned in connection with the goal of rehabilitation: decreased criminality and greater

public safety are logically connected to successful rehabilitation efforts.

Id. ¶ 18 (footnote omitted).

Convicted felons have only a conditional liberty interest when released under supervision and they do not enjoy the same constitutional protections as do citizens who are not convicted. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 20. The State has a legitimate interest in restricting the rights of those convicted of crimes. *Meachum v. Fano*, 427 U.S. 215, 224–25 (1976). For instance, the State may severely limit a convicted individual’s right to travel. *Jones v. Helms*, 452 U.S. 412, 419 (1981). The State may do so both to protect the community and rehabilitate the offender. *Griffin v. Wisconsin*, 483 U.S. 868, 874–75 (1987); see *Predick v. O’Connor*, 2003 WI App 46, ¶ 18, 260 Wis. 2d 323, 660 N.W.2d 1 (The reviewing court considers the “facts, circumstances and total atmosphere” of the individual case to determine whether geographical restrictions are reasonable and appropriate.).

Petersen bears the burden of proving that there is sufficient cause to modify or remove the condition of his extended supervision. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 24.

B. The “no social media” condition is reasonably related to Petersen’s rehabilitation, it protects the public while he is on extended supervision, and it is reasonably limited in scope.

Petersen must prove that “the condition is overly broad in light of the history and actions of this particular” defendant. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 58. The condition of Petersen’s supervision was narrowly tailored to serve legitimate state interests. *Id.* ¶ 23. The court only barred Petersen from accessing interactive social media sites such as Facebook and Twitter (now “X”), and only while he is on extended supervision. It only barred him from accessing social media sites that enable him to interact with other persons to

prevent a repeat of what happened here: After being blocked by FEP on social media because he kept harassing her, Petersen created fake accounts to further harass her and then took down those fake accounts. (R. 9:10.)

Petersen also completely ignored a restraining order obtained by FEP in Kenosha County circuit court two months before his armed threat on her life and his terrorist threats to others at the Kwik Trip store. (R. 9:9.) The restraining order prohibited any contact of any kind with FEP. The restraining order only emboldened Petersen, as evidenced by his relentless efforts after it was issued to contact her on social media, but now surreptitiously, as well as in person. It was reasonable for the court to believe that Petersen might use social media to again contact her while on extended supervision.

Petersen complains that the court could have narrowed the condition to ban only his use of social media to contact FEP “and all of the other victims.” (Petersen’s Br. 10–11.) This modification would not have been sufficient or realistic. The need to protect the public demanded more. The condition did not have to be the least restrictive means of advancing the legitimate state interests in play here so long as it was reasonably related to protecting those interests that might not otherwise be successfully achieved without the condition. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 23.

Petersen complains that he “has been effectively banished from social media to protect a handful of victims.” (Petersen’s Br. 10.) As originally charged, there were at least 18 victims of his terrorist threats. (R. 9; 13.) Even assuming FEP and 18 other victims is deemed to be only a “handful” of people, prohibiting Petersen’s access to social media to protect not only them but anyone else in the community, and only while he is on extended supervision, is eminently reasonable. Petersen fails to explain why it is not.

Rather than list FEP and the 18 people that Petersen could not contact, it was reasonable for the court to disallow any social media contact with anyone. The fact that Petersen did not use social media “to plan or perpetuate [sic] his activity” (Petersen’s Br. 11), is neither here nor there. He used social media to repeatedly harass and threaten the victim. He resorted to using fake accounts and fake usernames when she blocked him. He blatantly ignored a court restraining order banning any contact whatsoever with FEP. He reacted violently after FEP blocked him on social media and obtained the restraining order. In short, Petersen’s interactions with FEP on social media appear to have been a significant impetus for his terrorist acts.

As the prosecutor argued, there is every reason to believe that Petersen might engage in similar pernicious social media activity whenever he feels slighted by another potential victim in whom he develops a romantic interest. (R. 58:7.) Being “blocked” and subjected to a restraining order only increases Petersen’s rage and the danger he poses, as happened in this case. Anyone who resorts to acts of terrorism and threatens a mass shooting merely because he was “blocked” on social media by a love interest cannot be trusted to behave while communicating with anyone on social media sites. It was reasonable for the court to prevent this from happening again at least while Petersen is on extended supervision.

The condition furthers Petersen’s rehabilitation. It eliminates the temptation to use social media to harass and threaten others, increasing the likelihood that Petersen will responsibly use social media when his six years on extended supervision are done. Petersen will then be free, like any other citizen, to access social media sites as soon as his sentence is completed.

In *King*, the circuit court imposed a condition of extended supervision that restricted the defendant’s access to

any computer or cell phone with internet access. 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶ 13. The court then modified the condition postconviction allowing him to “possess device(s) capable of accessing the internet only with the express permission of the defendant’s agent” and allowing him access to the internet “only to the extent and manner as approved by the defendant’s agent.” The agent “shall not withhold” the defendant’s internet access “for purposes of obtaining employment or performing any legitimate government function such as filing taxes or renewing [a] driver’s license or license plates, etc.” *Id.* ¶ 15 (alteration in original). The court also required the defendant to provide his agent with the names of every e-mail account he uses and “the internet address of every website he creates or maintains,” his usernames, and the name and address of any “internet profile he creates, uses, or maintains.” *Id.* “To summarize, the internet conditions do not bar King from possessing devices capable of accessing the internet, and King may access the internet. To do either, King must have the prior approval of his DOC agent, and the agent is restricted to some degree, as noted in paragraph 2 of the conditions, in his or her ability to withhold approval.” *Id.* ¶ 31.

This Court upheld those conditions as reasonable, appropriate, and narrowly-tailored against the same challenges to the “no social media” condition that Petersen lodges here. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶¶ 45–75. Those strict conditions on internet access served the dual state interests of rehabilitating the offender and protecting the public. *Id.* ¶¶ 46–67. They were sufficiently narrow to serve those legitimate state interests without unduly impeding the defendant’s limited First Amendment rights to free speech and association as a convicted offender then serving a sentence. *Id.* ¶¶ 68–75.

The same reasoning supports the condition imposed by the trial court here. Given the aggravated facts and the

disturbing role that social media interaction played here, the “no social media” condition was, as defense counsel acknowledged, “appropriate.” (R. 35:19.) And, again, Petersen’s constitutional protections are greatly limited because he is a convicted felon serving a prison sentence.

Petersen’s reliance on *Packingham v. North Carolina*, 582 U.S. 98 (2017), for the proposition that the “no social media” condition is overbroad in violation of the First Amendment is misplaced. (Petersen’s Br. 12–14.) There, the Court struck down a North Carolina statute that banned registered sex offenders from accessing social media sites even after they had completed their sentences and were no longer under state supervision. *Id.* at 101. Packingham violated the statute when he posted on Facebook about a traffic ticket after he had completed his sentence. *Id.* at 102–03.

The *Packingham* decision does not apply to a convicted felon such as Petersen who is still serving his sentence on extended supervision. *King*, 394 Wis. 2d 431, ¶¶ 37–38 (and cases cited therein). “We conclude, as have numerous courts, that the Court’s holding in *Packingham* does not control the issue of the constitutionality of internet access supervision conditions ordered by a court as part of a sentence for a crime.” *Id.* ¶ 43.

The condition is therefore reasonably related to Petersen’s need for rehabilitation, it protects the public including any of Petersen’s love interests from harassment and threats, and it is appropriately limited in scope consistent with those purposes. Petersen will be free, unlike the defendant in *Packingham*, to access social media sites as soon as his sentence is completed.

Petersen insists that the condition amounted to his “banishment” from social media akin to the banishment of someone from an entire geographic area. (Petersen’s Br.

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